IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

SEP 14 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 85,921

ROY PHANEUF,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE
DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,
FIFTH DISTRICT

MERITS BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BONNIE JEAN PARRISH
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #768870
444 Seabreeze Boulevard
5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged by information with one count of grand theft third degree and one count of possession of burglary tools (R 21). Respondent plead guilty to one count of grand theft third degree and to one count of the lesser offense of attempted possession of burglary tools (R 3, 23-24). The written plea agreement contained the following:

4. I have read the information or indictment in this case and I understand the charge(s) to which I enter my plea(s). My attorney has explained to me the total maximum penalties for the charge(s) and as a result I understand the following:

* * *

e. That a hearing may hereafter be set and conducted in this case to determine if I qualify to be classified as a Habitual Felony Offender or a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and :

(1) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of 10 years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of -- years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

(2) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Non-Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of 10 years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of -- years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

* * *

(R 23) (Appendix A). The plea agreement also set forth that respondent was aware of all of the provisions and representations

of the plea agreement, that he discussed the plea agreement with his attorney and that he fully understood it (R 24). Respondent signed the written plea agreement (R 3, 24).

During the plea hearing held on March 1, 1994, respondent stated that he had thoroughly read the plea agreement (R 3). Respondent also stated he had an adequate opportunity to ask questions of his attorney about the plea agreement (R 3). Respondent understood the agreement and had no questions about it (R 4, 5-6). Respondent understood the maximum sentence he faced was up to 10 years as a habitual felony offender and that he would not be entitled to basic gain time if sentenced as a habitual offender (R 5). Respondent stipulated to a factual basis based on the facts contained in the affidavits (R 4). The trial judge found respondent's plea was freely, voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently made and the plea was accepted (R 6). The plea agreement was filed on March 1, 1994 (R 51).

On May 3, 1994, the trial judge filed notice and order for a separate proceeding to determine if respondent qualified as a habitual felony offender (R 25-26). On May 4, 1994, respondent filed a motion to strike the court's notice of habitual offender sentencing (R 27). On May 5, 1994, the motion was denied (R 29).

On June 30, 1994, the sentencing hearing was held (R 8-18). Respondent objected to the scoring of an offense as a felony as it was a misdemeanor (R 10). The state did not object to the correction (R 10). Neither the respondent nor the state had any submission as to whether or not respondent qualified as a habitual

offender (R 11).

The trial judge found respondent qualified as a habitual offender (R 11, 38-39). Respondent was adjudicated guilty (R 14, 31). Respondent was sentenced to 3 years incarceration followed by 2 years probation (R 14, 33-35, 41-48).

Respondent appealed his conviction and sentence to the Fifth District Court of Appeal (R 49). On June 9, 1995, the Fifth District vacated respondent's sentence and remanded pursuant to the Fifth District's opinion in Thompson v. State, 638 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994), review granted, State v. Blackwell, 649 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1994). Phaneuf v. State, 20 Fla. L. Weekly D1370 (Fla. 5th DCA June 9, 1995) (Appendix B). In Thompson, supra, the Fifth District found that the acknowledgement contained in the plea agreement of the penalties that the defendant could receive if habitualized was insufficient to constitute notice of intent to habitualize. The acknowledgement found to be lacking in Thompson is the same as that found in respondent's plea agreement (R 23); Thompson, at 117.

Petitioner filed a notice to invoke jurisdiction. Jurisdictional briefs were filed by both petitioner and respondent. This court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The instant case is identical to State v. Blackwell and those cases consolidated with Blackwell. In Blackwell, this court determined that the Fifth District erred in determining that an identical plea agreement to the instant case was insufficient to give respondent notice that he may be sentenced as a habitual offender. In the instant case as in Blackwell, respondent read, understood, signed and discussed the plea agreement with his attorney. The plea agreement set forth that respondent could be habitualized, the maximum sentence he faced and that he would not be entitled to gain time. As this court held in Blackwell, this was sufficient notice. The decision in the instant case should be quashed, as were the decision in Blackwell, Brown, Holmes, Jones and Thompson. Blackwell, at S355.

ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FINDING THAT RESPONDENT HAD NOT BEEN GIVEN NOTICE OF THE INTENT TO HABITUALIZE PRIOR TO RESPONDENT ENTERING HIS PLEA; THE PLEA FORM RESPONDENT SIGNED, READ AND UNDERSTOOD GAVE RESPONDENT SUFFICIENT NOTICE, AS IT SET FORTH THE MAXIMUM SENTENCE THAT COULD BE IMPOSED IF RESPONDENT WAS HABITUALIZED AND THAT RESPONDENT WOULD NOT BE ENTITLED TO BASIC GAIN TIME.

In the instant case, the plea agreement which respondent read, understood and signed set forth the following:

4. I have read the information or indictment in this case and I understand the charge(s) to which I enter my plea(s). My attorney has explained to me the total maximum penalties for the charge(s) and as a result I understand the following:

* * *

e. That a hearing may hereafter be set and conducted in this case to determine if I qualify to be classified as a Habitual Felony Offender or a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and :

(1) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of 10 years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of -- years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

(2) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Non-Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of 10 years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of -- years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

* * *

(R 23) (Appendix A). Respondent signed the plea form (R 5, 54). Respondent has thoroughly read the plea agreement, understood it and had no questions about it (R 5). Respondent had the opportunity to ask questions of his attorney concerning the plea form (R 5). During the plea hearing, the trial judge asked respondent if he understood the maximum sentence he faced was 10 years as a habitual felony offender (R 5-6).

Pursuant to this court's recent decision in State v. Blackwell, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S354, S355 (Fla. July 20, 1995), this court determined that plea forms virtually identical to respondent's plea form were sufficient to give the defendants notice of the possibility of habitualization before the pleas were accepted. This court held that the plea forms satisfied the first prong of Ashley, infra. Id., at S355.

Here, respondent was advised during the plea hearing by the trial judge of the maximum possible habitual offender sentence he could receive and that if he was habitualized he would not receive basic gain time (R 5). Respondent understood this and still wanted to enter his plea (R 5). Also, respondent signed the plea form and understood the possibilities. Respondent had sufficient notice and the plea form met the requirements of Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486 (Fla. 1993). Blackwell, at S355. As in Blackwell, Brown, Holmes, Jones and Thompson, the decision in the instant case should be quashed. Id.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein and pursuant to Blackwell, supra, petitioner requests this court quash the decision in the instant case.