IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

W. J. WHITE

OCT 5 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

versus

CASE NO. 85,921

ROY PHANEUF,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY
AND THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON, PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BRYNN NEWTON
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
Florida Bar Number 175150
112-A Orange Avenue
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114-4310
904-252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts but would add that the written plea agreement was amended, after Respondent's pleas of guilty had been entered, to include the provisions that:

- c. That a hearing may hereafter be set and conducted in this case to determine if I qualify to be classified as a Habitual Felony Offender or a Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and:

* * *

- (2) That should I be determined by the Judge to be a Non-Violent Habitual Felony Offender, and should the Judge sentence me as such, I could receive up to a maximum sentence of 10 years imprisonment and a mandatory minimum of ---- years imprisonment and that as to any habitual offender sentence I would not be entitled to receive any basic gain time.

* * *

(R 23) (Emphasis supplied.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's sua sponte filing of a notice to sentence Respondent pursuant to the habitual offender statute improperly usurped the State Attorney's exclusive executive power to prosecute criminal cases. The State did not file its own notice to seek habitual offender sanctions and its role of prosecuting Respondent as an habitual offender was improperly assumed by the trial court.

ARGUMENT

RESPONDENT WAS IMPROPERLY SENTENCED AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER BASED ON THE TRIAL COURT'S SUA SPONTE ISSUANCE OF A NOTICE AND ORDER WHICH WAS NOT FILED UNTIL AFTER THE ENTRY OF RESPONDENT'S PLEA.

Respondent recognizes that this Honorable Court has held that the plea form in this case, amended after Respondent's guilty pleas had been entered, satisfies the requirement that a defendant receive written notice of the possibility of habitualization before his or her plea is accepted. State v. Blackwell, 20 Fla. L. Weekly 354 (Fla. July 20, 1995). Respondent agrees with Petitioner that this case is "identical to State v. Blackwell and those cases consolidated with Blackwell[,] because the procedure followed in this case is the same technique employed by Volusia County Circuit Judge John Watson in the cases that accompanied Blackwell, i. e., the habitual offender sentencing proceedings were initiated not by the prosecuting attorney from the State Attorney's Office but by the judge.

Following the entry of each defendant's plea in State v. Blackwell et al., and in this case two months after the pleas, Judge Watson entered a "NOTICE AND ORDER FOR SEPARATE PROCEEDING TO DETERMINE IF DEFENDANT IS HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER OR HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER PURSUANT TO FLORIDA STATUTE 775.084 AND FOR SENTENCING HEARING." (R 25-26) Respondent filed a motion to strike the trial court's sua sponte institution of habitual offender proceedings, noting that the State had not sought enhanced sentencing for Respondent and that the notice had not been filed

until after the entry of Respondent's plea. (R 27-28)

The motion to strike also argued that, "The Court in instituting these habitual offender proceedings against the defendant has in fact become an arm of the prosecution of the case and is in fact adopting prosecution tactics. . . . "

The Fifth District Court of Appeal held in Toliver v. State, 605 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992), review denied, 618 So. 2d 212 (Fla. 1993), that it is proper for the trial judge to file the notice for habitual offender sentencing. Section 775.0841, however, provides that " . . . The Legislature intends to initiate and support increased efforts by state and local law enforcement agencies and state attorneys' offices to investigate, apprehend and prosecute career criminals and to incarcerate them for extended terms." s. 775.0841, Fla. Stat. (1991). (Emphasis supplied.) The habitual offender statute's statement of "Legislative findings and intent" clearly expresses that the habitual offender sentencing statute is to be implemented by prosecutors, not trial judges, who are not mentioned in the statement.

Similarly, in Steiner v. State, 591 So. 2d 1070 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), Judge Lehan, concurring specially, wrote:

"In addition to this procedural problem, the wisdom and propriety of the notice issuing from the trial court is also questionable. The far better practice would be for such a notice to originate from the state. . . . Two, the appearance of impartiality of a sentencing judge may be compromised when he or she has already filed a notice to invoke a sentencing enhancement procedure, the imposition of which was discretionary

in the first place. Three, the decision whether to invoke the habitual offender statute appears to be within the province of the prosecutor rather than the trial court, just as is the initial decision to invoke the death penalty. In fact, it may be concluded that the legislature contemplated that it would be up to the state to seek imposition of a habitual offender sentence: "All reasonable **prosecutorial** efforts shall be made to persuade the court to impose [a habitual offender sentence]." Ch. 88-131, s. 5(d), Laws of Fla. (1988) (emphasis added). Four, in negotiating a plea agreement, the state may look to the habitual offender statute as an effective bargaining tool. . . . "

Id., 591 So. 2d at 1072, footnote 2.

The offense in this case was alleged to have occurred in January of 1994, following the June 17, 1993, effective date of Section 775.08401, Florida Statutes (1993). (R 19-20, 21-22) Judge Harris wrote in the case of another defendant sentenced by Judge Watson in Santoro v. State, 644 So. 2d 585 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994):

The judge's ability to initiate habitual offender treatment has been placed in doubt by the enactment of section 775.08401, Florida Statutes (1993), which requires the "state attorney in each judicial district" to adopt uniform criteria to determine the eligibility requirements in determining which multiple offenders should be pursued as habitual offenders in order to ensure "fair and impartial application of the habitual offender statute." It appears that this statute, effective June 17, 1993, may very well have "repealed" Toliver v.

State, 605 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), which permitted the sentencing judge to initiate habitual offender consideration. It now appears that the legislature has determined that it is only the state attorney, in order to ensure "fair and impartial application," who can seek habitual offender treatment of a defendant -- and then only if the defendant meets . . . circuit-wide uniform criteria.

Id., 644 So. 2d at 586, fn. 4.

Article II Section 3 of the Florida Constitution provides:

SECTION 3. Branches of government.--The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein.

In State v. Bloom, 497 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1986), this Honorable Court held that under this provision,

[T]he decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility, and the state attorney has complete discretion in deciding whether and how to prosecute. Art. II s. 3, Fla. Const.
. . . .

Id., 497 So.2d at 3. But see, Art. V s. 17, Fla. Const. (State attorneys defined as the "prosecuting officer" under "Judiciary" provision of the constitution).

In King v. State, 557 So.2d 899 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), the Fifth District Court of Appeal stated that either the State or the trial court may suggest habitual offender classification. This statement was made, however, in the context of rebuffing a defendant's

challenge that the habitual offender statute was void for vagueness. The First District Court of Appeal, on the other hand, in upholding the constitutionality of Section 775.084, reiterated that the executive branch is properly given the discretion to choose which available punishments to apply to convicted offenders, citing State v. Bloom, supra. Barber v. State, 564 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). A trial court has no authority to reduce a mandatory minimum sentence for drug trafficking unless the State first files a motion to reduce the sentence based on the defendant's providing substantial assistance to law enforcement. See, e. g., State v. Cuesta, 490 So.2d 239 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986); State v. Bateman, 423 So.2d 577 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), petition for review denied, 446 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1984). Similarly, Respondent maintains that a trial court does not have the authority to sua sponte seek and impose an extraordinary penalty, i. e., a doubling of the statutory maximum, except upon the prosecution's instigation or "suggestion."

Presumably, there have been other cases in Judge Watson's court wherein habitual offender sentencing proceedings were initiated by the prosecutor, as was apparently intended by the Legislature, and wherein the prosecutor filed the notice of habitualization **prior** to the entry of the defendants' pleas. In this case, however, the prosecutorial decision to seek an enhanced sentence for Respondent was made by the judge. Respondent submits that his being sentenced as an habitual offender upon the trial court's own motion was unauthorized and illegal. His sentence